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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Good morning.  My

          3  name is Maria Baez.  I Chair the Committee on Aging.

          4  Before we begin our oversight hearing today, we will

          5  be voting, the Committee on Aging, will be voting on

          6  Intro. No. 722 and 726.

          7                 Intro. No. 722 is a bill that amends

          8  the Administrative Code in relation to the Senior

          9  Citizen Homeowners' Exemption, or SCHE.  The bill

         10  makes the Administrative Code consistent with State

         11  legislation by adding certain allowable income

         12  deductions, including payments made to individuals

         13  because their status as victims of Nazi persecution;

         14  and monies earned through employment in the Federal

         15  Foster Grandparent program.

         16                 Intro. No. 726 amends the

         17  Administrative Code in relation to the Senior

         18  Citizen Rent Increase Exemption, or SCRIE, by

         19  allowing deduction for gifts or inheritances;

         20  payments made to individuals because of their status

         21  as victims of Nazi persecution; and increases in

         22  public or private pensions.

         23                 Again, these are technical amendments

         24  that will make local law consistent with  State law.

         25                 We have Council Member Gentile who's
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          2  going to speak on Intro. No. 722.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Thank you,

          4  Madam Chair. Basically, what you explained is really

          5  what the bill does.  It's a technical amendment to

          6  make the Senior Citizens Homeowners' Exemption

          7  program reflect the Federal law as regards to the

          8  victims' Nazi persecution, and those who have

          9  employment through the Federal Foster Grandparent

         10  program  And it excludes any income that may be from

         11  that program as adding to the cap for purposes of

         12  these homeowners' exemptions.  So it's a good

         13  feeling, and it dovetails with Councilman Recchia's

         14  bill on SCRIE, and Councilman Lopez's bill, on the

         15  disabled increase exemption.

         16                 And this one's for homeowners, and I

         17  think all three bills seek to conform to the wording

         18  of the Federal law.  So I appreciate your

         19  opportunity to do this, and ask for everybody's

         20  support.  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Council Member

         22  Recchia.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes.  Good

         24  morning, Madam Chair, and thank you for letting me

         25  say a few words on my bill, Intro. No. 726.
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          2                 For too long, this has been waiting,

          3  and for the people in my community, for the seniors,

          4  many survivors from concentration camps, I just want

          5  to thank this Committee, and thank the Council and

          6  your leadership for getting this passed.  This is

          7  something that will definitely help many seniors in

          8  my community.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you.  Billy.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK: A couple of items.

         11  Council Member Baez.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK: Dilan.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Aye on both

         15  items.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Foster.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Aye on all.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Recchia.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Aye on all.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Arroyo.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Aye on all.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: With a vote of five in

         23  the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

         24  abstentions, both items are adopted.  Council

         25  Members please sign the Committee report. Thank you.
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          2                 ?: I forgot to add that I would like

          3  to be a co sponsor, also, on Councilman Recchia's

          4  bill, 726.  If that's possible.  Can we just put

          5  that on the record?  Thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Madam Chair,

          7  since I'm visiting, can I also be added as a sponsor

          8  of both of the bills? Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: We've been joined

         10  by Council Member Stewart.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member

         12  Stewart, Into. No. 722 and 726.  How do you vote?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I vote aye on

         14  both.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote now stands at

         16  six.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Good morning, and

         18  welcome.

         19                 Today, the Committee on Aging,

         20  joining with the Committee on Health, Chaired by

         21  Council Member Chris Quinn, will conduct an

         22  oversight hearing on resources available in the City

         23  to help seniors create legal documents, sometimes

         24  called advance Directives, that will clarify their

         25  preferences concerning medical treatment.
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          2                 In New York, there are three basic

          3  types of advanced directive: Health care proxies;

          4  living wills; and do- not resuscitate orders.  In

          5  general, under State law, family members and other

          6  caregivers who have not been designated as health

          7  care agents by a written proxy, do not have the

          8  right to make medical decisions for their relative

          9  or friends.  We all know the heartache that can be

         10  caused when a loved one wishes concerning medical

         11  treatment are not known.

         12                 We all witnessed the case of Terry

         13  Schiavo, the young woman who spent almost 15 years

         14  on life support while her husband and family battled

         15  over her fate in the State and Federal courts.  I

         16  know that many of us were touched by the Schiavo

         17  case, and want to insure that, in the event we

         18  become incapable of making medical decisions for

         19  ourselves, our wishes are known.

         20                 Although this is a subject that

         21  potentially affects all New Yorkers, we are using

         22  this hearing to focus specifically on services

         23  available for seniors who wish to create advanced

         24  directive.  We hope that this hearing will be an

         25  opportunity to bring information to light about
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          2  available options and services, and to explore

          3  efforts that have been made to educate seniors about

          4  the value of advanced directive.

          5                 I would like now -- I have the

          6  pleasure of introducing my co- Chair, the

          7  Chairperson on the Health Committee, Council Member

          8  Quinn.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you.  I

         10  first want to thank Chairperson Baez for reaching

         11  out to the Health Committee to co Chair this hearing

         12  with them.  It's obviously an incredibly important

         13  issue, making sure that seniors and their families

         14  have all of the resources possible as it relates to

         15  planning for health care decisions when someone is

         16  still able to do that.  And I really want to thank

         17  again, Chairperson Baez for reaching out so we can,

         18  in the Council in both Committees, learn more about

         19  what is presently available so we can make sure our

         20  constituents have that information.  And also find

         21  out whether there is more we should be doing to make

         22  sure that the full legal planning is available for

         23  people to make sure that they can make the plans

         24  they need for their family.

         25                 I know, in my family, I personally
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          2  experienced this when my mother's mother was dying.

          3  Both of her daughters had passed away, and so I was

          4  her next of kin.  And it was a horrible, horrible

          5  situation, where the doctors wanted to put in a

          6  feeding tube.  I didn't want them to.  We ended up

          7  in court.  And it's nowhere that a family should be

          8  at that moment in time.

          9                 So, for families to learn in advance

         10  what they can do to prevent that is really a

         11  tremendous service of the aging community, just as

         12  for the Council to learn what we can do to make it

         13  even easier for people to plan, is something I know

         14  we're all committed to.

         15                 I want to say we've been joined by

         16  members of the Health Committee: Council Member

         17  Kendall Stewart, who I guess is here in both

         18  capacities; and also Council Member Helen Sears, of

         19  Queens, of the Health Committee.  And I'm sure we'll

         20  be having more Health Committee.  And the Aging

         21  Committee members have already been introduced.

         22  We're also joined by Council Member Carmen Maria del

         23  Arroya of the Bronx, of the Aging Committee, Helen

         24  Diane Foster, of the Aging Committee, Eric Dilan,

         25  Domenic Recchia, and we were joined by Vinnie
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          2  Gentile.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: We will now be

          4  hearing from our first witness, Caryn Resnick, from

          5  the Department for the Aging.

          6  Good morning.

          7                 MS. RESNICK: Good morning, Council

          8  Members Baez and Quinn, and members of the Health

          9  and Aging Committees.  My name is Caryn Resnick, and

         10  I am the Deputy Commissioner of the Department of

         11  the Aging.  I am here today to present testimony

         12  regarding the Department's efforts at education,

         13  outreach, and services regarding health care advance

         14  directives, also known as health care proxies,

         15  living wills, and other health instruments.

         16                 End- of- live decisions are

         17  difficulty for everyone. A health care proxy,

         18  however, should be completed by everyone 18 years of

         19  age and older.  Under New York law, a health care

         20  proxy allows you to appoint someone to make health

         21  decisions for you when you are incapacitated.  In

         22  addition, New York law requires hospitals and

         23  nursing homes to provide you with a health care

         24  proxy form, and information about creating a proxy.

         25                 Federal law also requires health care
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          2  facilities to notify their patients of their rights

          3  under State law.  But there is still some confusion

          4  about the purpose of the health care proxy.

          5                 Unlike a living will, a health care

          6  advance directive is not limited to cases of

          7  terminal illness.  If, for example, you are unable

          8  to communicate your wishes due to a temporary

          9  illness or injury, a health care advance directive

         10  allows you to keep control over care decisions,

         11  because you have stated those wishes, and have

         12  chosen a person to make and communicate those

         13  decisions for you.  Unless you have formally

         14  appointed someone to make decisions for you when

         15  you're incapacitated, health care providers and

         16  institutions will make critical decisions for you

         17  that might not be based on your wishes.  In New York

         18  State, however, your agent's authority begins only

         19  when two doctors have determined that you have lost

         20  the capacity to make decisions for yourself.

         21                 A health proxy names an agent and

         22  alternative agents, gives the effective date and

         23  durability, lists the agent's powers, that is, your

         24  wishes about treatment or limitations.  For example,

         25  your wishes about artificial nutrition and
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          2  hydration, end of- life treatment instructions, as

          3  well as health care issues that do not involve end-

          4  of- life treatment.  The health care proxy must be

          5  signed before two witnesses, who must also sign and

          6  date the document.  Neither an agent nor the

          7  alternative can serve as witnesses.

          8                 Leaving health care decisions to

          9  others without any guidance places a huge burden on

         10  loved ones at a traumatic time. These documents give

         11  seniors a voice when they have none, and they allow

         12  medical decisions to be made according to a senior's

         13  wishes. These documents allow a senior to take

         14  control of their right to determine their health

         15  care treatment.  We do urge all seniors to review

         16  any legal documents with their family, doctor, and

         17  lawyer before they  sign anything.

         18                 Any call that comes into the

         19  Department for the Aging from 311 asking about

         20  health care proxies, living wills, or advance

         21  directives, is answered by our information and

         22  referral staff.  Callers are mailed a package of

         23  information -- and I brought samples with me that I

         24  can leave with you -- regarding advanced directives

         25  and end- of- life issues.  Our I and R
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          2  representatives will also direct callers to

          3  lawhelp.org for further information on living wills,

          4  health proxies, and Powers of Attorney.  We also

          5  have a number of other avenues seniors can learn

          6  more about this information.

          7                 For example, the Department contracts

          8  with a number of legal providers, including Legal

          9  Aid Society's Elder Law Project, MFY Legal Services,

         10  JASA Legal Services, and Legal Aid Brooklyn Office

         11  for the Aging, and Legal Services for New York City.

         12    These legal service providers assist our seniors

         13  with various legal issues, including health care

         14  proxies and living wills.  Our legal services

         15  providers average two to four requests for help with

         16  health care directives per month.  These are done in

         17  house, or through a pro bono attorney.  We are

         18  currently working on a pilot project with the New

         19  York County Lawyer's Association to set up seminars

         20  at some of our senior centers in Manhattan and the

         21  Bronx regarding these important issues.

         22                 Our Health Insurance Information

         23  Counseling and Assistance Program unit, also known

         24  as HIICAP, advises seniors on health care proxies

         25  and living wills.  HIICAP is a source of free and
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          2  current information about health care coverage for

          3  older people.  Our HIICAP team visits senior

          4  centers, community- based organizations, civic

          5  associations, and various other community orgs.

          6  They give presentations to over 300 sites a year.

          7  There are also over 100 volunteers in the program

          8  who are familiar with all insurance issues and

          9  various health care instruments.

         10                 Through HIICAP's help line, our

         11  volunteer counselors can provide information on all

         12  aspects of health insurance and advanced directives.

         13  Also, HIICAP's "Guide to Health Care Coverage for

         14  Older New Yorkers" is mailed to many seniors across

         15  the five boroughs.  In addition to information about

         16  insurance, it details various advance directives.

         17                 The Department's Training Center has

         18  developed a three- part, online training course on

         19  end- of- life issues and decisions, that was

         20  completed in 2004.  The first of three courses deals

         21  with planning for end- of- life medical issues,

         22  including health proxies, living wills, and do- not-

         23  resuscitate orders.

         24                 The other two courses in the end- of-

         25  life issues and decision series deal with legal

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEES ON AGING AND HEALTH

          2  issues.  For example, various types of Powers of

          3  Attorney, wills and living trusts, and funeral and

          4  burial issues.  The courses can be used by older

          5  people and their caregivers. They can also be used

          6  by professional staff who counsel older people and

          7  their caregivers.

          8                 The courses are the natural outgrowth

          9  of many years of classroom training provided by the

         10  Department's Training Center staff and DFTA- funded

         11  community partners on this topic.  We continue to

         12  offer classroom training on the end- of- life issues

         13  and decisions, which is available for DFTA and

         14  community partner staff. We find the classroom

         15  training is still an essential component to our

         16  efforts to train staff on these issues in part

         17  because it providers learners with the opportunity

         18  to ask questions and discuss more complex situations

         19  which is not available to them through the online

         20  course.

         21                 The courses can be located by going

         22  to our website at www.nyc.gov/aging.  There is also

         23  a link from our homepage to the New York State

         24  Department of Health web page that talks about

         25  appointing your health care agent in New York State.
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          2                 Our community partners, senior

          3  centers and case management agencies, also do their

          4  own outreach when it comes to these issues.

          5                 Finally, we will be distributing a

          6  wallet- sized version of a health care proxy at our

          7  21st Annual Mayoral Alzheimer's Conference on

          8  November 11th.  There will also be workshops given

          9  to interested attendees.

         10                 In closing, the staff of DFTA has

         11  worked diligently at outreach and education on

         12  health care proxies, living wills, and other end-

         13  of- life issues.  Health care proxies and living

         14  wills are important documents that seniors must be

         15  educated on.  Before a senior signs any document

         16  related to their health, however, they need to

         17  review it with their family, doctor, and lawyer.

         18                 Thank you again, for giving me this

         19  opportunity to testify.  I look forward to answering

         20  any questions you may have.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you.

         22                 I just have a question, and then I'll

         23  turn it over to my colleagues.  One of the reasons

         24  that we came up with today's topic was because when

         25  I visit some of the senior centers in my district,
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          2  we were just discussing legal instruments related to

          3  health care.  And a lot of the seniors didn't know

          4   -- some of the seniors that I represent don't have

          5  a computer, can't go on the Internet and so forth.

          6  But I know that there has not been anyone reaching

          7  out to them, regarding this issues.  That's why I

          8  wanted to hold this hearing.

          9                 Has there been a survey done to see

         10  whether the seniors are being offered some sort of

         11  information or anything? Has DFTA done some sort of

         12  survey on what centers, what boroughs --

         13                 MS. RESNICK: Not a survey, in

         14  particular about --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: The advanced

         16  directives and services.

         17                 MS. RESNICK: We keep track of our

         18  outreaches, and where we've gone, and where our

         19  HIICAP staff have gone, so we can let you know where

         20  we are around the City.  But we haven't done a

         21  specific survey about --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: I understand

         23  there's a website, and a senior help line, there's

         24  legal service providers.

         25                 And the pilot program, that's not
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          2  yet, correct? Regarding the seminars?  It hasn't

          3  happened.  Okay.

          4                 These legal service providers, I

          5  would presume that that's already taking place,

          6  right?

          7                 MS. RESNICK: Yes.  We have many

          8  contracts with legal services --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: And do you have

         10  some sort of listing of where it is, the

         11  organizations that they go to.  Like if I wanted

         12  them to come up to a specific senior center, or to

         13  all the senior centers in the district or other

         14  boroughs.  Would they provide that service upon

         15  request or --

         16                 MS. RESNICK: I would not think that

         17  they are staffed well enough to send an attorney out

         18  to every senior center, but between the various

         19  organizations providing this service, I would think

         20  we could get somebody out to each of the centers.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Or someone from the

         22  Department of the Aging.  Not just legal service

         23  providers, but someone that could come out and sort

         24  of orientate them on what's available to them.

         25                 MS. RESNICK: Absolutely.

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEES ON AGING AND HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Okay.  Council

          3  Member Quinn.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: What type of

          5  dialogue goes on between DFTA and HHC, or DOA, or

          6  both as it relates to getting this information out

          7  to folks in the clinic settings that DOH runs, and

          8  also in the various, numerous facilities that HHC

          9  runs.  We had requested that HHC be here today. It

         10  didn't work on their schedule, so we'll obviously

         11  follow up with them to get more specifics from them

         12  and get that information to the Council members.

         13                 And in addition, is there any

         14  dialogue between DFTA and the Greater New York

         15  Hospital Association, which HHC is a member of, but

         16  also is the umbrella for the private hospitals.

         17                 MS. RESNICK: Yes, we partner and work

         18  together on many projects, with all three of the

         19  organizations, and HHC as you mentioned.

         20  Specifically on health care directives, I can't say

         21  that we have a specific relationship.  I know HHC,

         22  in the hospital, they're required to hand out, when

         23  you come into the hospital, you get the health care

         24  proxy form.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Of course, they
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          2  are required to do it, but when you go into a

          3  hospital or something like that, there's so much

          4  paperwork you get, that I'm not really sure, not

          5  that it's not a good thing, they should do that, but

          6  I'm not sure that it necessarily rises to the level

          7  of attention that we want it to, as much as it

          8  should.

          9                 As a follow up to the hearing, it

         10  might make sense for us to have some follow up to

         11  the meetings with DFTA and HHC and DOH to explore

         12  ways we could expand that relationship and discuss

         13  what the resources are that would need to exist to

         14  make that happen.  And also to do the same thing

         15  with Greater New York and the private hospitals.

         16                 One of the things I was thinking of,

         17  and it's complicated, DOH has done this great job

         18  with the Take Care New York, the ten- point thing,

         19  plan, and I don't know that you would want 22 to be

         20   -- after the top ten I think to keep you well, that

         21  you would necessarily would want 11 to be, and have

         22  a health care proxy, but there might be a way to

         23  incorporate into Take Care New York, more

         24  information about this.  What Take Care New York is

         25  about is taking responsibility, and also, taking
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          2  responsibility for your own health care and making

          3  the attention on yourself and your health care a

          4  part of your life.  So this is very relevant to

          5  this. To what happens when you're not able to do

          6  that anymore.

          7                 I know DOH has some integral

          8  management people here to figure out how we could

          9  explore that as well, because they've been very

         10  successful in getting it out there.

         11                 Do you get -- I think we would love

         12  to see, you mentioned to the Chair, a list of where

         13  you all have been.  Do you get a lot of requests for

         14  people to go out and do this?  Or is it more just

         15  part of your general --

         16                 MS. RESNICK: There are centers who

         17  will call specifically asking for speakers.  And we

         18  quickly surveyed our legal aid providers, and I

         19  mentioned that they don't get a huge request,

         20  something like two to four clients a month, which is

         21  pretty small.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And do you

         23  think, is your sense that's because they're

         24  otherwise getting the info out, or they don't know

         25  that this resource is available to them?  Or --
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          2                 MS. RESNICK: I'm not sure.  Probably

          3  a combination of all of those things.  And again,

          4  just to remind all of us, this is an extremely

          5  personal decision and choice.  So we can make

          6  information available, but certainly can't assist in

          7  decision making.  That's up to every individual

          8  person.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And it might be

         10  useful to do some type of mailing, or however the

         11  most effective ways that you communicate with the

         12  centers to make sure they know that this resource is

         13  available so then we can know whether lack of

         14  knowledge is part of what's not -- whether that's an

         15  issue, and whether or not they're reaching out.  And

         16  if we saw an increase in requests as a result of

         17  that, then we might need to figure out how to factor

         18  that in.

         19                 At the centers, are there advance

         20  directive forms available?

         21                 MS. RESNICK: Again, each center, I

         22  think, does their own thing, but we do make forms

         23  available, and the centers really should have

         24  applications and forms.  For this as well as all of

         25  the entitlements and benefit programs.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And when you

          3  say you make them available, what does that mean?

          4  Does that mean they get sent to the --

          5                 MS. RESNICK: We send them out in bulk

          6   --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: If requested.

          8                 MS. RESNICK: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: And do you know

         10  how many centers have requested them?

         11                 MS. RESNICK: No.  I may have that

         12  tracked, and I may be able to get you that.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: If you don't

         14  have it tracked, it might be something worth

         15  tracking, so we could see whether there isn't a lot

         16  of the centers -- I have to say I don't know when

         17  I've been to -- I'm now going to make a point of

         18  looking.  But I think it would be worth tracking,

         19  because we need to figure out whether they're

         20  sitting in a box somewhere in your office versus

         21  getting out to folks.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Council Member

         23  Sears.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you,

         25  Madam Chair.
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          2                 And good morning.  I'm going to just

          3  go in another direction for a moment, which is

          4  really the networking.

          5                 I understand that it's a very

          6  personal, private thing.  But I just want to, for

          7  your consideration, for networking. It wouldn't cost

          8  the Department any money that I think would be a

          9  good resource to do this.  Because there are many

         10  people, many seniors who enter hospitals and have no

         11  families.  And when decisions have to be made, and

         12  I'm now coming into a financial aspect, it's very

         13  costly.  They have to either have an attorney to

         14  locate any existing family, and find none.  Or they

         15  have to go to court.  And I know, I've run

         16  hospitals, and we've had that problem. They're

         17  abandoned seniors, which is a terrible thing to even

         18  think happens, but the reality is, it does.

         19                 There are things that may -- for

         20  instance, Medicaid could send out to their senior

         21  population, a number and advising them of that.

         22  Secondly, they are homebound.  They have no

         23  families.  And the Board of Elections has this list

         24  of homebound, and just drawing up something that

         25  they would be able to send out at election time with
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          2  no cost to you, because they would do that.

          3  Christine Quinn brought up the HHC.  Every one of

          4  those hospitals has their own Managed Care.  And

          5  they can certainly identify the aging population.

          6                 Because it's more than just the

          7  senior centers, and certainly, maybe we need to look

          8  at, when we do budget time, that we would allocate

          9  some money so that they could send people to the

         10  senior centers, you know who they are, and have

         11  enough staff to do that.  The way we do with

         12  inspectors in the Building Department. That perhaps

         13  when it's budget time, we should look at how you can

         14  do that. Because it's a very growing, serious

         15  problem, and it's becoming very costly to the City

         16  of New York.  And particularly to HHC.

         17                 So I think that we need to look at

         18  this not only from assisting the senior population,

         19  but I think we need to look at this as how we can do

         20  better networking so that we can reduce that cost.

         21                 So I suggest that: One, you need HHC,

         22  and they could identify those seniors in Managed

         23  Care.  No cost to you.  All you have to do is to

         24  just have a thing which they could do themselves, to

         25  insert in their billing.  Finance can identify every
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          2  senior. And when they do their billing, they should

          3  put in that, a card that you've drawn up for a

          4  number, or how important it is.  They would identify

          5  all those seniors who are living alone.  As well as

          6  living together.  So there's a huge resource out

          7  there for you. And it does not require manpower, and

          8  it doesn't require those dollars.  And you would be

          9  able to reach such a volume of seniors that would

         10  assist them, and I have to add, additionally, really

         11  save dollars in identifying our going to court for

         12  those elderly that have no kin.

         13                 Has any of that been done?  I think

         14  that's my question. I went about it the long way.

         15                 MS. RESNICK: No, but excellent

         16  suggestions, and I will bring them back, and we will

         17  pursue it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: If you need any

         19  help, we'll be glad to help you with that.  Because

         20  they're all there, and you should take advantage.

         21                 One of the things that we always talk

         22  about in the Council is the inter- agency

         23  networking.  And I do believe that the technology is

         24  being developed so that this could happen, and it

         25  would be very good if you could be a leader in that
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          2  field.  Because it's there for you, with no extra

          3  dollars.  I'll think of some more agencies too.

          4                 Thank you very much.  And will you do

          5  this?  Will you go back and look at when you could

          6  start doing it?

          7                 MS. RESNICK: Absolutely.  We will.  I

          8  will get back to you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: When are you

         10  going to start it?  That's why nobody invites me to

         11  dinner.  I ask when?

         12                 MS. RESNICK: I can't give you a date

         13  today, but we will get back to you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Councilman Sear's

         15  question made me think of a question, which was,

         16  what type of coordination gets done about

         17  distributing this information through the Home Meal

         18  Program? Because that seems like another way you

         19  could get homebound seniors, through the various

         20  food distributions.

         21                 MS. RESNICK: Or case management

         22  agencies we would be able to do that.  And

         23  periodically, we do distribute it.  We've done it

         24  with Ready New York, and with some of the other

         25  literature. So it is definitely an avenue that we
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          2  could --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Do more of.

          4                 MS. RESNICK: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Because that's

          6  something else we'd add to Council Member Sear's

          7  list.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And also, one

          9  other thing, if I may Madam Chair.  The Nurse

         10  Registry for the aides that help the elderly and the

         11  frail elderly.  They would be a great resource. And

         12  every time they send someone out on a job, they

         13  should take with them something that's prepared.

         14  And they would be able -- because those particularly

         15  living alone and have no kin, you would be amazed at

         16  the numbers of those elderly, amazed.  And they need

         17  every assistance they can.  And if it comes from an

         18  authoritative source, they are far more amenable to

         19  working with that source than they are having

         20  strangers address it.  So I would also add that to

         21  the list.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Council Member

         23  Arroyo.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: I'm going to

         25  add a few more to the list.  Good morning.  Thank
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          2  you for your testimony.

          3                 I'm going to ask a couple of question

          4  regarding some of what you included in the

          5  testimony.  In detail.  I have a problem with

          6  detail.

          7                 The guide for health care coverage

          8  for older New Yorkers.  You spoke about a mailing to

          9  many seniors.  What's the number?

         10                 MS. RESNICK: I'll  have to get back

         11  to you with the number.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Okay.  So here

         13  are the questions.  How often does it happen?  How

         14  many actually go out? The languages it goes out in?

         15  And how is this mailing list generated?  Where does

         16  that database sit, and whether it's something that's

         17  already in place, just like Council Member Sears

         18  suggested, the Board of Elections, HHC.  Is it

         19  something you're duplicating?  How is that list

         20  generated:

         21                 MS. RESNICK: The Training Center.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: I understood

         23  that it was started, but then I got the impression

         24  that it has not started yet.

         25                 MS. RESNICK: There are two different
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          2  trainings.  We do, at the Department for the Aging,

          3  we have a training unit, and we have been doing, and

          4  we continue to do on health care directives, as well

          5  as the courses that we started online.  And we

          6  talked about, which I think you're going to hear

          7  from the next testifier, a project that we're

          8  working on with the Lawyers Alliance.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Okay. So the

         10  audience is the staff of the centers and programs?

         11  Or is the elderly?

         12                 MS. RESNICK: Yes.  Or caregivers.

         13  Certainly. The online program is anybody.  It could

         14  be the caregiver, the client, the staff --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: So the courses

         16  at that center are for staff of the program.

         17                 MS. RESNICK: The classes at our

         18  training site at 220 Church Street, are for all of

         19  our contract agencies.  The staff at all of those

         20  agencies.  Case Management, senior centers, part

         21  DFTA staff, anybody that we contract with is invited

         22  from the community. Not really individuals.  Really

         23  for staff.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: If an elder is

         25  interested in obtaining this information, do they
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          2  also have access to this training?

          3                 MS. RESNICK: Not to individuals.

          4  It's really through our organizations.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: And then just

          6  to reiterate the concern that Council Member Baez

          7  indicated, online access is something that we would

          8  like to believe that everyone has.  And that is not

          9  the case in most communities.  Especially in the

         10  elder population.  Forget the fact that we don't how

         11  to even turn on the computer, but access to a

         12  computer in the home is a major issue. So I think

         13  that believing that that's a method or vehicle for

         14  dissemination of this information to this population

         15  is not a correct assumption.  At least not in my

         16  district.  I don't know if anybody else has that

         17  concern.

         18                 MS. RESNICK: Well again, that is for

         19  staff, for caregivers, because many of the adult

         20  children do have access to computers, either at work

         21  or at home, and at our senior centers. Very shortly,

         22  all of our centers will have Internet access.  And

         23  many have computer labs for older people as well.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: So the online

         25  audience is not intended to be the elder person.
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          2                 MS. RESNICK: It can be anybody.  It

          3  can be the elder person, staff and the caregiver.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: So then the

          5  point remains the same.  That if the elder is part

          6  of the audience that you're targeting, they don't

          7  have access.  At least not the elders in my

          8  district.  And this is where I think you need to --

          9                 MS. RESNICK: Perhaps not at home, but

         10  we are trying to make access available in the senior

         11  centers.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Okay.  Let's

         13  realize, two senior centers, 97 units in one, and

         14  you have one office that's open nine to five, Monday

         15  through Friday.  That staff is usually on those

         16  computers.  How much access are they going to have

         17  if the centers have access.

         18                 So please be realistic about what you

         19  think you can do with what you have.  The

         20  information disseminating to the elder population,

         21  there are many that don't go to the centers, so

         22  using the center as the way to disseminate this

         23  information is not complete.  We need to figure out

         24  a way to get to those who don't necessarily go to

         25  the center.  Because they're not go hang out with

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEES ON AGING AND HEALTH

          2  old people.  This is a very prevailing attitude

          3  among the senior community.  They don't go to the

          4  feeding program because they're not going to go for,

          5  you know, I'm an old person, why I want to be with

          6  those people?

          7                 This is the stuff that you get in the

          8  street.  So the center being the focal point of

          9  disseminating this information may not necessarily

         10  be the best way to disseminate it.

         11                 The collaboration with the health

         12  care providers is something that I think DFTA really

         13  needs to rise to a level of expectation on the

         14  provider.  Because the State law mandates that they

         15  disseminate this information, and rise to the level

         16  of providing assistance to the elder, or the

         17  individual who wants to put together an advance

         18  directive or health proxy.  So I don't know that we

         19  need to believe that we're overburdening HHC or any

         20  other health care provider.  The law says that this

         21  is what they must do. And if they're not doing it

         22  well, then we need to call them to task on it.

         23  Because that is what the law requires of them.

         24                 So I think it's an excellent

         25  opportunity.  Not just HHC.  This is a State law
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          2  that governs all health care providers. So I think

          3  DFTA's in a very good position to strengthen

          4  collaborative efforts with health care providers,

          5  because they don't have a choice, they have to do

          6  this.  And to the point where they have to help the

          7  individual generate a health care proxy.

          8                 And I think you really need to take

          9  that opportunity and use it to your advantage.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you.  Council

         11  Member Stewart.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you

         13  Madam Chair and Ms. Resnick.  I just want to follow

         14  up on one question.

         15                 It's very adjacent to what was asked

         16  before.  What role do you play at assisted living

         17  facilities, nursing homes, in things of health?   Or

         18  to facilitate the living will, the DNR, and the

         19  health care proxy?  What kind of role do you play in

         20  those kinds of -- if you do play any role

         21  whatsoever.  Because you're giving me the impression

         22  that you do these things at senior centers.  Or your

         23  centers do those senior things.  But a good number

         24  of seniors are in assisted living facilities and

         25  nursing hones, and half- way homes.  What role do
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          2  you play to facilitate this for these folks?

          3                 MS. RESNICK: One I have to research

          4  the answer to that question.  But in general terms,

          5  we don't have oversight over the nursing homes or

          6  the assisted living facilities.  Certainly we have

          7  collaborative relationships with many of them.  So

          8  in that regard, we could I suppose, do more in

          9  making information available to them.  But I'm

         10  guessing that they have other avenues where they

         11  have access --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: You may not

         13  have oversight, but the fact is, these are seniors.

         14  The Department of Aging should be really the agency

         15  to deal with seniors.  Better than senior centers or

         16  assisted living centers, or nursing homes.  Seniors.

         17  Generally.  I think that's the way it should be.  So

         18  I would like you to do something to find out what is

         19  happening, and what we need to do so that you can

         20  play a bigger and stronger role in helping these

         21  seniors with the things that are chartered to do.

         22  Right?

         23                 MS. RESNICK: I think that also may

         24  get back to the relationship with the Department of

         25  Health and our other sister agencies.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

          3  Thank you Madam Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you.  Council

          5  Member Foster.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Good morning.

          7  Could you tell me, what are some of the hurdles in

          8  terms of the thinking of seniors, or the lack

          9  thereof when it comes to health care proxies and

         10  planning for this type of thing?

         11                 MS. RESNICK: No.  That's the short

         12  answer. Personally, I'm not out in the street doing

         13  this kind of work, so I certainly could go back and

         14  talk to social work staff and ask them what some of

         15  the --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: It would be

         17  helpful.  And I'll tell you why.  We're out there be

         18  it speaking at numerous events, and I know, with my

         19  own parents, who should know all these things, it

         20  was like pulling teeth.  Because I'm an attorney, I

         21  was like Mom, Dad.  Blah, Blah, Blah.  You keep

         22  talking about what you don't want.  Well, if you

         23  don't do anything about it, it doesn't matter.

         24                 So it would be helpful to us, like

         25  little cheat sheets, in terms of what questions, or
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          2  what attitude is out there that we can help

          3  overcome.  Because I think Council Member Carmen del

          4  Arroyo, I was going say Council Member Maria, but

          5  Maria's here also.  It is correct that there is a

          6  school of thought with seniors -- you know, I have

          7  an aunt in Bermuda who is 93, who goes to visit the

          8  seniors and she takes the old people lunch, and I'm

          9  like, if they're old people, how much older?  So

         10  that is a real attitude. And knowing to add to the

         11  suggestion, I think a good place to start in terms

         12  of reaching those seniors that don't hit senior

         13  centers are churches.  Especially black churches are

         14  filled with elderly people.  And I know I am passing

         15  this on to my aunt, because I have a senior council

         16  that meets once a month, that would be helpful to

         17  just start the conversation.

         18                 But as we go out, it would be very

         19  nice to know what the attitude is, and how to

         20  introduce it so you at least start them thinking.

         21  Because I don't think it has to do with race, or

         22  color, or class.  I think it just has to do with the

         23  attitude that maybe you don't want to deal with it

         24  now, and then when it's time to deal with it, it's

         25  probably too late.  Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you very much

          3  for being here today, and testifying.  And I think

          4  today's hearing is very important, and the objective

          5  is to see how we can work together with DFTA and HHC

          6  to ensure that seniors are aware of advance

          7  directive and the services that's available to them.

          8                 And I think while we have some sort

          9  of service, it's just not enough.  We need to make

         10  individuals aware that there's the HHC along with

         11  other agencies can provide this service to them. So

         12  whatever this Committee can do to be helpful, we

         13  will be more than happy to do.  I know there is some

         14  information that you're going to get back to the

         15  Committee, so we would appreciate that as soon as

         16  possible.

         17                 So once again, thank you very much.

         18                 MS. RESNICK: Thank you, and thank you

         19  for your suggestions.  We will follow up.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you.

         21                 Clifford Meirowitz.  And Randye

         22  Retkin.  I'm going to call two at a time since

         23  there's only room for two.  And because we have a

         24  few individuals that are going to be talking on

         25  today's hearing, please keep your testimony to three
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          2  minutes.  Can you put the clock on please.

          3                 You could arm wrestle for who ever

          4  wants to go first, however you want to do it.

          5                 MR. MEIROWITZ:  Before I read my

          6  prepared remarks, just listening to the questions, I

          7  want to say, I speak in front of a lot of

          8  organizations, before seniors throughout the City,

          9  and based on my experience, I think there is a big

         10  problem that the senior population doesn't

         11  understand what their rights are with respect to

         12  end- of- life decision making.  With respect to

         13  advance directives, end- of- life decision making.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: I'm sorry, can you

         15  state your name?

         16                 MR. MEIROWITZ: Oh, I'm sorry.

         17  Clifford Meirowitz, and I'm Chair of the New York

         18  County Lawyer's Association Elder Law Committee.

         19                 And a lot of seniors, they don't know

         20  the difference between a health care proxy and a

         21  living will.  Even if they know the difference, they

         22  don't know where to put it.  A lot of them put it in

         23  their safe deposit box.  And when the time comes to

         24  use it, no one knows where it is.

         25                 Then, as was pointed out, there's a
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          2  lot of people who are alone.  They don't have

          3  anyone, or they may have people, but they don't have

          4  anyone that they trust to appoint under a health

          5  care proxy.  Living wills are problematic, because

          6  the language is often ambiguous.  Also, you can't

          7  anticipate what's going to happen three, four, five

          8  years into the future.  So if someone isn't

          9  constantly updating their living will, what's in the

         10  living will today might not be valid in four, five

         11  years.

         12                 And then there's another issue of

         13  elder abuse.  And we're talking about getting these

         14  documents out to the senior centers and the seniors,

         15  but if there's not someone actually counseling them,

         16  then there could be a problem.  Because,

         17  unfortunately, as we know, there's a lot of elder

         18  abuse out there, and we're not talking about some

         19  advance directives, like durable Powers of Attorney,

         20  often these documents are done at the same time, a

         21  durable Power of Attorney, a health care proxy, and

         22  a living will.

         23                 And I'm just going to read my

         24  prepared remarks.

         25                 New York County Lawyer's Association
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          2  Pro Bono Committee, in conjunction with Lawyers Will

          3  Care, Inc., is initiating the Elder Law Project,

          4  which is an Elder Law Pro Bono program established

          5  to serve indigent seniors.  It is designed to assist

          6  seniors in Manhattan and the Bronx with preparation

          7  of basic estate planning documents such as advanced

          8  directives, which are Powers of Attorney, health

          9  care proxies, and living wills.  The project may

         10  expand its services in the future.

         11                 The New York City Department of the

         12  Aging will support the project by coordinating and

         13  publicizing dates and times for volunteer attorneys

         14  to counsel seniors at senior centers. Lawyers Will

         15  Care is developing a training manual and conducting

         16  training at the New York County Lawyer's Association

         17  for lawyers interested in participating.

         18                 I will strongly encourage members of

         19  NYCLA's Elder Law Committee to serve as mentors to

         20  the project, and to volunteer to serve at senior

         21  centers.  It is essential to educate New York senior

         22  population via programs like the Elder Law Project

         23  regarding the importance of planning ahead by

         24  executing advanced directives. The growing senior

         25  population must plan for the possibility of
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          2  incapacity.  Seniors must determine in advance who

          3  will provide assistance in managing their person and

          4  property in the event of disability.

          5                 Education and counseling will enable

          6  our seniors to make informed decisions and execute

          7  documents that reflect their wishes.  The issues

          8  involving advanced directives are difficult for some

          9  seniors to face or even acknowledge.  They are

         10  sensitive and nuanced subjects and require expertise

         11  and compassion when advising seniors.  Many seniors

         12  do not know their rights whatsoever with respect to

         13  end- of- life decision making.  It is also necessary

         14  to warn seniors, a vulnerable population, about

         15  potential abuses by dishonest agents.  Furthermore,

         16  frequently, people do not have any trusted family

         17  member or friend to provide assistance.

         18                 Lastly, a coordinated effort aimed at

         19  religious, civic, and community organizations,

         20  senior centers, assisted living facilities, low-

         21  income housing, doctor's offices, and hospitals will

         22  get the word out to seniors.

         23                 Well- publicized events, public

         24  service announcements, print, subway and bus

         25  advertisements and pamphlets can be used to help
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          2  educate the New York senior population about

          3  advanced directives.  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you.  The

          5  Elder Law Project. It's a pro bono project.  And we

          6  heard earlier from DFTA that there's presently not

          7  enough legal service providers to go everywhere.  My

          8  question to you is, what's the average cost of

          9  obtaining advanced directives?  Or similar documents

         10  from a private attorney?

         11                 MR. MEIROWITZ: I don't know what the

         12  average cost is, but they're relatively inexpensive

         13  documents.  They're just about the simplest legal

         14  documents to prepare and execute.  For example, I

         15  charge $100 for each.  And I often give discounts on

         16  those.  I know other attorneys who couple them with

         17  a consultation. They have a consultation fee, and

         18  they'll also do a health care proxy, a living will,

         19  and a Power of Attorney.  But they're relatively

         20  very inexpensive documents.

         21                 MS. RETKIN: My name is Randye Retkin.

         22    I am Director of LegalHealth, which is a project

         23  of the New York Legal Assistance Group.  And you

         24  were talking about barriers to health care proxies,

         25  and I happen to, a colleague and I happen to have a
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          2  study that was done about barriers, why people do

          3  not do health care proxies.  And I know of two other

          4  studies.  And I'd be happy to share this with you,

          5  or leave this with you.  And this is actually done

          6  in New York City.

          7                 I'm part of the New York Legal

          8  Assistance Group, which is a nonprofit low office

          9  established in 1990 to provide free legal services

         10  to low- income New Yorkers.  And we provide a

         11  comprehensive range of services in immigration,

         12  public assistance, health care, family, elder law,

         13  and advanced planning.  Our clients are New Yorkers

         14  with limited means and include senior citizens, many

         15  of whom are immigrants, and aging holocaust survivor

         16  population, and people suffering from chronic and

         17  serious illness.

         18                 NYLAG has been assisting individuals

         19  with advance directives, namely health care proxies

         20  and living wills, for over 12 years, and I

         21  personally have been advocating this service for as

         22  long, here at NYLAG, and when I was legal director

         23  of the Gay Men's Health Crisis.

         24                 To expand upon it's existing

         25  outreach, and service provision in this area, NYLAG
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          2  recently established its Total Life Choices project,

          3  and we call it TLC.  The goals of TLC are to

          4  increase awareness and promote use of advance

          5  directives to the general public and to provide

          6  direct legal assistance --  and this is the

          7  interesting part, electronic storage of advance

          8  directives. In the pilot stage of the project, we

          9  have focused service on senior citizen populations

         10  and those suffering from chronic and serious

         11  illness.  While virtually everyone could benefit

         12  from this service, we have found that because of age

         13  and mobility, it is essential to bring these

         14  services to particularly vulnerable populations.

         15                 We have held workshops and

         16  educational seminars at over 40 sites across New

         17  York City for over 800 individuals.  Sites have

         18  included senior centers, naturally occurring

         19  retirement communities, or NORCS, hospitals, and

         20  social service organizations. Presentations are

         21  routinely delivered in Spanish and Russian.  And

         22  someone asked a while ago about places, and that

         23  presentations were made.  But I do have, I just

         24  asked my colleagues the last few months, and we've

         25  been at the Pelham Parkway NORC, Forest Hills NORC
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          2  in Queens, Decatur Grand Square Senior Center,

          3  Project Find Coffeehouse, Greenwich House and Coop

          4  Village.  And that's just in the last few months.

          5            In addition to helping individuals

          6  complete these documents, the TLC project also

          7  provides free electronic storage of advance

          8  directives, through a partnership with the US Living

          9  Will Registry, a nationwide database established to

         10  make advance directives readily accessible to

         11  doctors and medical professionals. Clients receive a

         12  free lifetime account and a wallet- size ID card

         13  which contains personal access information that can

         14  be used whenever and wherever it is needed.  For

         15  example, if an elderly person is admitted to the

         16  hospital, without the capacity to make health care

         17  decisions, and this card is found, the doctor can

         18  access this database and see who their health care

         19  agent is, or if they have a living will.

         20                 In addition to assisting consumers,

         21  NYLAG, through its LegalHealth project, provides

         22  direct legal services in hospitals, and also trains

         23  doctors and other health care professionals on the

         24  legal issues affecting their patients.  One of the

         25  most important trainings we conduct is on health
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          2  care decision making.  Doctors want to be, and need

          3  to be included in this conversation about advance

          4  directives, since ultimately it is they who are left

          5  not knowing how to provide care when someone cannot

          6  speak for themselves or if others do not have the

          7  legal right to speak for them.

          8                 And you asked before about HHC

          9  hospitals.  We are actually in four HHC hospitals.

         10  Not necessarily always doing advance directives, but

         11  we provide free legal services.  So, for example, in

         12  our practice, if somebody comes in for a housing

         13  issue, or for a debt issue, and immigration, we

         14  always bring the conversation around to, have you

         15  done and advance planning.  And of course, many of

         16  or clients are ill, so it certainly makes sense to

         17  have that conversation.

         18                 Elmhurst, Lincoln, Kings, and

         19  Bellevue.

         20                 And we are also in seven other

         21  private hospitals. Maimonides, Mount Sinai, St.

         22  Lukes Roosevelt, Our Lady of Mercy, my colleagues

         23  will remember them.

         24                 For programs like TLC to be

         25  successful, the first step is to get people to
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          2  understand the importance of future planning.  We

          3  are grateful to the City Council for holding this

          4  hearing, and for recognizing the importance of this

          5  vital issue. But so much more has to be done through

          6  creative initiatives to encourage more people, not

          7  only seniors, but all New Yorkers, to recognize the

          8  importance of doing advance directive.

          9                 And I'd be happy to answer questions

         10  at this point, and give you the other hospitals.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  A couple of

         12  questions for both of you.  Just on the HHC hospital

         13  side of it.  Tell me a little bit about how you got

         14  into those four, and what you would need to be able

         15  to go into more, because I assume there's staff,

         16  materials et cetera.

         17                 MS. RETKIN: It's part of a larger

         18  project.  We started this about three years ago with

         19  HHC, four years ago with private hospitals.  But we

         20  actually have an on- site legal clinic in the

         21  hospitals, where we provide directly the services to

         22  patients. The referrals only come from doctors,

         23  social workers, nurses.  It's not for people just to

         24  come off the street, but it's the referral. And

         25  basically --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: And those

          3  referrals, I'm embarrassed that I don't know this,

          4  but are those referrals that have to come from HHC?

          5  Or could those referrals come from anywhere?

          6                 MS. RETKIN: Well, they have to be

          7  patients at the hospital.  That's the only criteria.

          8    So they can come from any person in a hospital.

          9  In other words, it's not open to the public, it's

         10  open to the patients.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Okay.

         12                 MS. RETKIN: And we basically went

         13  before the HHC Board a number of years ago, and it

         14  was HHC who determined that -- we started at

         15  Elmhurst, and were successful at Elmhurst, so it

         16  expanded to the three other hospitals.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: I would, and I'm

         18  sure I speak for the Aging Committee as well, to

         19  follow up with you and HHC on that to get

         20  information about what it's costing at those

         21  facilities. I'm sure they're getting used

         22  tremendously.  And what we would have to do if we

         23  wanted to try to expand that to other facilities.

         24                 This is kind of a question for both

         25  of you.  A little bit of a follow up to the question
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          2  that Council Member Foster was raising with DFTA.

          3  In raising this topic with seniors, are there tips

          4  that you all could provide to us, as Council

          5  Members, kind of like what we were asking of DFTA,

          6  that would make any discussions we had more

          7  sensitive, more effective, et cetera. If you were to

          8  say the top two, three, four, whatever reasons why

          9  seniors don't have these materials together, what

         10  are those, to give us a sense of what we need to

         11  focus on to overcome them.

         12                 MR. MEIROWITZ: The senior population

         13  is varied, and some people come in and they say, I

         14  don't want to be kept alive with extraordinary

         15  measures, I want this, I want that.  And it's very

         16  easy to prepare the documents for them.  Others,

         17  they can't even acknowledge, as has been stated,

         18  that they're aging, and they night need this, I'll

         19  take care of it when I get the chance.

         20                 So it's hard just to take a general

         21  approach to that.  I think you just have to

         22  recognize that you've got to address all these

         23  different types of seniors.  And then there's

         24  tremendous misinformation.  Whenever I speak,

         25  there's always someone who stands up and says. I've
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          2  been married for 50 years, and do you mean if

          3  something happened to me and my wife couldn't make

          4  the decisions?  And then I point out that not every

          5  marriage is so great, maybe in some cases the wife

          6  might pull the plug too quickly.  So they're

          7  surprised that they don't absolutely have the right

          8  to make these decisions.

          9                 So I think it's hard to have just one

         10  specific approach, you've got to be sensitive to the

         11  needs of the entire senior population.

         12                 MS. RETKIN: I'd like to answer that

         13  as well.  In my experience -- first of all, I do

         14  think part of it is the misunderstanding, or people

         15  think that anybody can make health care, relatives

         16  can make health care decisions for them.  New York

         17  State has no surrogate decision making.  So

         18  therefore, that's not the case.  But most people do

         19  think it's the case.  It may be practice that people

         20  make decisions in hospitals for relatives, but it's

         21  certainly not the law.

         22                 So that's one thing.  But also, I

         23  think it is very hard.  Most people do not -- and

         24  studies have shown that -- do not do health care

         25  proxies or advance directives until something is
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          2  happening, there's a crisis.  It could be -- I've

          3  counseled a lot of people with chronic illness,

          4  particularly cancer.  Very had conversations to have

          5  with people.  Because people always think that by

          6  doing advance directives, you're admitting

          7  something, that this might be the end.

          8                 I think the key is, frankly, to have

          9  it part of another conversation.  For example,

         10  that's why I say it works when we counsel people on

         11  housing issue, by the way, do you have a health care

         12  proxy, or by the way, do you have children.  Or by

         13  the way, -- exactly.  And I think that's the way.

         14                 And I think lectures are very

         15  important.  Trainings are very important.  But I

         16  have to say, and if my colleagues would like to

         17  answer this as well, I think it's really the one-

         18  to- one. And I know it's very hard resource wise,

         19  but it's really those one on- one conversations that

         20  are key.  Because everybody has the materials.

         21  That's not the problem.  I think the problem is not

         22  doing it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: One of the pieces

         24  of information you just said about the surrogate

         25  decision making is a very widespread
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          2  misunderstanding in the State.  My grandmother was

          3  15 years ago, but I completely assumed that my

          4  sister and I, who were her granddaughters, would

          5  have that right.  And is it that way in other

          6  states?  I can understand why more people would

          7  think that. So I think we also need in the outreach

          8  and education efforts we're talking about, also need

          9  to get that point out there.  Because people may

         10  think this is extra paperwork we're asking them,

         11  because they may assume -- which seems entirely

         12  logical.  We need to inform them of the illogic

         13  first.  Thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: I have a quick

         15  question.  An individual goes into a hospital.  They

         16  sign a proxy.  That proxy, a copy, or the original

         17  stays at the hospital and they take a copy?

         18                 MS. RETKIN: Copies are as good as

         19  originals.  The problem is, that what they need to

         20  do is put it in the medical chart.  They need to

         21  give it to the doctor.  They need to give it to

         22  their agent.  It's very important -- people do

         23  proxies and then you can't find them.  That's why

         24  this electronic storage --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Right.  So
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          2  what happens, let's say for example, the individual

          3  goes to a particular hospital, signs a proxy there.

          4  The proxy now is at that hospital. This individual

          5  now does not, let's say, the sister to make a

          6  decision, now wants the brother to do it.  How long

          7  is that document valid, until she changes it?

          8                 MS. RETKIN: That's correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: And what

         10  happens just for example, if the individual goes to

         11  another hospital there, with another individual's

         12  name?  The later one would be valid.

         13                 MR. RETKIN: Yes.  The later one would

         14  be valid.  And on other comment.  These are not --

         15  they are legal documents, but people properly

         16  trained could help do them.  It doesn't have to be a

         17  lawyer.  The don't have to be notarized.  They are,

         18  as Cliff said, they're not a very complicated legal

         19  document.

         20                 The discussion is complicated, and

         21  the issues, but in terms of who actually does it --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: So if it's

         23  never changed, this legal document is good for  --

         24                 MS. RETKIN: Forever.

         25                 MR. MEIROWITZ: That's right.  Unless
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          2  there's an expiration date stated in the document,

          3  which most people don't do. Sometimes when people go

          4  into the hospital for a procedure, they'll put an

          5  expiration date on the health care proxy.  But most

          6  people don't.  So it's good indefinitely.  And the

          7  great thing about a health care proxy, is that as

          8  long as your agent knows your wishes, with respect

          9  to end- of- life decision making, they can make any

         10  decision.  So it's a great document.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Council Member

         12  Arroyo.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Thank you,

         14  Madam Chair.

         15                 So the proxy follows the patient from

         16  facility to facility?  Whether one facility has a

         17  copy of it or not?

         18                 MS. RETKIN: Your charts sometimes

         19  don't follow.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: I mean in

         21  theory.

         22                 MS. RETKIN: In theory, yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: So if I'm the

         24  patient, I have a copy of it, and I show up to

         25  hospital X, which is not where my original proxy was
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          2  generated, then it's valid at that facility as well.

          3                 MS. RETKIN: Absolutely.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: That was the

          5  question.

          6                 One of the things we do when we sit

          7  here, is we chit chat with each other, and I'm going

          8  to ride on Council Member Sear's coattails.  One of

          9  the comments that we were making is that the

         10  concerns that elders usually have, is that

         11  organizations like yours, you do pro bono work.  But

         12  we are all expect a bill from an attorney.  How do

         13  we help them understand that organizations like

         14  yours will be able to provide assistance without the

         15  concern of them receiving a bill from a lawyer?

         16                 MS. RETKIN: It's very clear up front.

         17    We always say, over and over again, and I know

         18  that happens as well, with our clients.  We're free.

         19    There's no charge.  We're just very clear up

         20  front.  We make sure that the organizers at the

         21  NORCs or the other community centers know we're

         22  free, and that they tell the seniors that we're

         23  free.  There's no charge for our service at all.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: So how does

         25  the South Bronx Community Corporation senior program
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          2  get access to your services?

          3                 MS. RETKIN: Call us.  My colleagues

          4  in the audience, they actually go out and do a lot

          5  of the speaking, I do more of the hospital speaking.

          6    Bryan Lapine and Carolyn Kim actually are the

          7  people who do the speaking.  You just call them, say

          8  you want them to come out, and they will actually do

          9  training.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Do you do it

         11  in Spanish?

         12                 MS. RETKIN: Okay.  Back to the

         13  referrals at the hospital.  The referral is made by

         14  whom?  At the hospital.

         15                 MS. RETKIN: Doctor, nurse, social

         16  worker.  This is for the direct service.  And then

         17  we bring up the health care proxies.  The training

         18  part we are part of Grand Rounds, we're part of

         19  divisional meetings, so we do our training that way.

         20    But the referrals actually come from the doctors

         21  or other health care professionals.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Do you have a

         23  sense of how many patients you've been able to help,

         24  because I think it goes back to -- and I think we

         25  can sense where Council Member Quinn is going with
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          2  this -- what is it that we need to do to make this

          3  happen at every hospital?

          4                 MS. RETKIN: We provide services, and

          5  again, it's not just all health care proxies, but we

          6  provide services between our hospitals and our

          7  community groups like Cancer Care to about 2,000

          8  people a year.  I'm not sure how many of those end

          9  up doing, but a lot do, because we just include it.

         10  We just include it as part of the service.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: It would be

         12  interesting to see some detailed information around

         13  how many you do the one- on- one with, and then they

         14  translate into something that could help them, and

         15  experience a different level of life when they're

         16  admitted to a hospital, and not able to make

         17  decisions.  Which is the bottom line.

         18                 I'm sitting here listening to this

         19  conversation, I signed my sister's do not

         20  resuscitate order.  And I know for a fact, my sister

         21  did not have a proxy or advance directives.  This

         22  was prior to advance directives becoming State law.

         23  Now, I'm wondering if my nephews can sue the

         24  hospital.  Is that something -- I'm sitting here

         25  thinking how valid is that --
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          2                 MR. MEIROWITZ: There's actually

          3  different laws with respect to do not resuscitate

          4  orders.  And they're actually different problems

          5  that arise with respect to do not resuscitate

          6  orders.

          7                 MS. RETKIN: And the interesting thing

          8  with do not resuscitate orders is that's the one

          9  place we do have surrogate decision making.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO: Oh, we do.

         11  Okay.  That scared me.

         12                 MR. MEIROWITZ: I had a situation

         13  where a client, there was actually two clients, they

         14  were both women in their late 80s, they were living

         15  in the same building in the village.  One was on a

         16  lower floor.  Eventually, they moved into the same

         17  apartment. One of them actually passed away.  The

         18  other sister had a health care proxy.  She didn't

         19  know what to do.  Twenty minutes after her sister

         20  stopped breathing, she called EMS because she didn't

         21  know what to do.  They came in, and even though she

         22  had the health care proxy, they tried to resuscitate

         23  her sister, who was in her late 80s, and hadn't been

         24  breathing for at that point, over 30 minutes. So do

         25  not resuscitate orders are another important issue.
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          2                 If she had a DNR in the apartment, on

          3  the refrigerator, then they wouldn't have done it.

          4  But otherwise, they had to.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Just one

          6  question.  Do you get any monies from the City

          7  Council?

          8                 MS. RETKIN: Do we receive any?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes.  Did you

         10  ever come before the Women's Caucus or the

         11  Delegation meetings?

         12                 MS. RETKIN: I don't think so.  I know

         13  I haven't personally, --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I don't mean

         15  you personally, do you know that you can?

         16                 MS. RETKIN: You know, we only

         17  recently sort of, we just recently had a meeting

         18  with various members of the City Council.  It's

         19  fairly -- we don't know that much about the various

         20  committees to be honest about that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Because perhaps

         22  you should make a note that when that starts, I

         23  think because we could certainly see what we do in

         24  the budget to aid the elderly along those lines.

         25  You will still have your business, I'm sure.  We
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          2  won't take that away from you.

          3                 Thank you to Council Member Baez for

          4  bringing you to all of us.

          5                 MS. RETKIN: And just to clarify,

          6  colleagues may have come before various Council

          7  committees, but I'm not sure, so I would have to go

          8  back and --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Maybe you want

         10  to check on that so we can see in a few months where

         11  we go with that.  Thank you.

         12                 MS. RETKIN: I will.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you both.

         14                 MS. RETKIN: Thank you.  There's

         15  information that we can --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Kenneth Lau.  Diane

         17  Lutwak.

         18                 MS. LUTWAK: Good morning.  My name is

         19  Diane Lutwak. I am the attorney in charge at the

         20  Legal Aid Society's Brooklyn Office for the Aging.

         21                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         22  testify and provide information about what we do,

         23  and what we don't do.  We provide legal

         24  representation, advice and information regarding

         25  civil legal matters to approximately 900 seniors a
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          2  year in Brooklyn, many of whom are disabled and

          3  homebound.

          4                 Of course, due to limited resources

          5  available to fund civil legal services generally,

          6  our elder law intake of new cases is necessarily a

          7  matter of triage, with only those callers with

          8  urgent, serious legal problems having attorneys

          9  assigned to represent them.

         10                 Preventing eviction, and securing

         11  government benefits to cover the cost of housing,

         12  food, and medical care for our seniors are

         13  necessarily our priorities.  Another critical

         14  practice area that we've seen more and more activity

         15  in lately has to do with identity theft, and liens

         16  on bank accounts, so that seniors seeking our

         17  assistance who had the lien on a bank account is a

         18  new area where we're doing a lot of work.

         19                 Certainly, other legal service issues

         20  that are important to seniors are brought to our

         21  attention, with one of those areas being the

         22  preparation of legal instruments such as wills,

         23  Powers of Attorney, and advance directives for

         24  health care decision making.  However, at present,

         25  for a number of reasons, we provide services in this
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          2  area only on an extremely limited basis.

          3                 First, occasionally, in response to a

          4  limited number of requests, one of our case members

          5  on the staff, whether it's our social worker,

          6  myself, one of the staff attorneys, will assist a

          7  senior with the drafting and execution of advance

          8  directives.  This might happen if we are already

          9  representing the senior in another matter, and the

         10  topic comes up, and there's a specific request for

         11  this assistance.  But this adds up to only a very

         12  small number of clients over the course of a year.

         13                 In addition, several times a year, we

         14  do conduct information sessions on advance

         15  directives in response to requests from senior

         16  centers.  This generally involves a trip out to a

         17  senior center somewhere in Brooklyn, where we

         18  provide information and sample documents to the

         19  senior center director, and to the seniors who

         20  attend.  In this regard, it's actually worth

         21  mentioning that we actually don't -- although we

         22  offer to be available for follow up to come back to

         23  assist people in filling out the documents, we very

         24  rarely get those requests.  And this taps into some

         25  of the questions that some of you have raised about
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          2  what is it that prevents seniors from actually

          3  executing the documents.  And I have my own thoughts

          4  on that based on the anecdotal evidence that I've

          5  seen over the years that I've been doing that.

          6                 In this regard, it's often that there

          7  isn't an appropriate, dependable person for the

          8  senior to nominate for their health care proxy.  We

          9  also have to remember that these are very difficult

         10  and sensitive personal issues that have to be

         11  confronted when you actually sit down and execute

         12  the document.  And if you were to even poll this

         13  room and find out how many people in this room have

         14  executed these documents, we might all be a little

         15  surprised to see.  Or, this would probably confirm

         16  what I'm saying here in terms of the difficulty with

         17  the documents.

         18                 I should mention that we are funded

         19  by the Department for the Aging, but our funding

         20  from the Department for the Aging is only to provide

         21  individual legal services to individuals with legal

         22  cases.  So they actually don't fund our efforts to

         23  go out into the community to provide information.  I

         24  just wanted to make a note of that.

         25                 And then we do have volunteers who
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          2  occasionally sign up with us to provide pro bono

          3  services through the auspices of our office, because

          4  we certainly do get calls for assistance, and since

          5  we can't help everybody who needs our assistance

          6  through volunteer attorneys, sometimes attorneys

          7  from the private firms doing trusts and estates,

          8  this is a fairly easy way that attorneys in the

          9  private sector can give back to the community,

         10  perhaps one afternoon a month, seeing a few clients

         11  and generally with a triggering question being a

         12  request to do a will, and then the attorney will

         13  discuss advance health care directives.

         14                 I guess basically, due to the limited

         15  resources for civil legal services, generally, and

         16  our necessary focus on emergency matters, as well as

         17  what we've experienced as being a fairly limited

         18  demand for actual assistance with documents, we are

         19  only able to allot a limited amount of staff time,

         20  although certainly if the demand increased, and this

         21  additional resources were to be made available, we

         22  are set up to provide this kind of service to

         23  seniors.  Thank you.

         24                 MR. LAU: Good morning.  My name is

         25  Kenneth Lau.  I'm from MFY Legal Services.  I'm the
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          2  Supervising Attorney for the Manhattan Legal Aid for

          3  Seniors Project.  This project just started in July

          4  of this year, funded by the Department for the

          5  Aging, and we provide a wide range of legal services

          6  for the senior citizens living in Manhattan.

          7                 Our priority is to help seniors age

          8  in place in their own home, and maintain the highest

          9  level of independent living as possible.  We

         10  primarily represent seniors in eviction proceedings,

         11  social security problems, Medicaid and Medicare,

         12  public benefits, and other consumer issues that come

         13  in front of us.  The need of our services is

         14  growing, is enormous, and we expect it will grow as

         15  the population of our City ages.

         16                 We also handle wills and trusts and

         17  estates and advance directive issues for the

         18  seniors.  We believe in holistic services, and most

         19  of the time, when they come to us for other

         20  services, when the issue is raised, we discuss

         21  advance directive and other planning issues with

         22  them.  However, due to a limited number of

         23  resources, and our limited staff, we are unable to

         24  meet all the needs that's out there that requires

         25  advance directive.
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          2                 We recognize there's a large unmet

          3  need for additional service for seniors.  With the

          4  advance of health care, the choice for end- of- life

          5  care are more complex and difficult than ever.  Many

          6  seniors are unaware of the importance of advance

          7  directives.  They did not understand that

          8  communicating their wishes about end- of- life care

          9  will ensure they face the end of their life with

         10  dignity, and receive care consistent with their own

         11  value.

         12                 With advance directive, seniors can

         13  avoid placing the heavy burden of deciding proper

         14  care on their family and loved ones later on.  In

         15  addition, with advance directive, seniors will be

         16  ensured that they receive only the type of medical

         17  care they wish to receive, and allow the health care

         18  providers to allocate their valuable resources more

         19  effectively.

         20                 Sometimes, seniors do not prepare

         21  advance directives because the choice for end- of-

         22  life care can be complex and difficult.  However,

         23  many failed to do so because they are not aware of

         24  the issues, and due to cultural barriers.  Education

         25  and culturally sensitive outreach efforts will
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          2  increase awareness of this important issue and help

          3  more seniors prepare in advance.

          4                 With limited resources, MFY's

          5  priorities to help seniors facing crisis situations

          6  such as imminent eviction, and who is in danger of

          7  losing their home; seniors who have problem

          8  accessing public benefits, Medicaid, Medicare; other

          9  more urgent immediate issues, such as death and

         10  victim financial exploitation.

         11                 MFY hopes to secure additional

         12  resources and funding that would permit MFY to

         13  increase the level of service, to reach out to the

         14  seniors and educate them, and increase the awareness

         15  of advance directive and the benefit of planning in

         16  advance for the end- of- life care.

         17                 Thank you very much for the

         18  opportunity to address these issues.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you.

         20                 Council Member Sears.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you.

         22  Just one question.            For those that you may

         23  either one, come in contact with,  who have no next

         24  of kin, what are they advised to do, if at all?  Or

         25  what avenues to seek to help them make decisions?
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          2  Or who, in that case, would actually be able to

          3  follow through on what their decision is?  Because

          4  that population is a lot larger than people think.

          5  Quite large.

          6                 MS. LUTWAK: The living will document

          7  doesn't require there to be a proxy appointed, so

          8  that would be the vehicle that would be recommended

          9  to someone who doesn't have someone to appoint.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.  That

         11  answers my question.  Thanks.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 Eileen Chichin.  And Beatrice

         15  Greenbaum.

         16                 MS. CHICHIN: Good morning.  My name

         17  is Eileen Chichin, and I am the Co- Director of the

         18  Greenberg Center on Ethics, at the Jewish Home and

         19  Hospital Lifecare System.

         20                 We are a very large academic nursing

         21  hone, with campuses in Manhattan, the Bronx, and

         22  Westchester. I'm just going to focus on Manhattan

         23  and the Bronx today in what I'm going to say.

         24                 We serve, on a daily basis, 1,300

         25  inpatient nursing home patients, and approximately
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          2  2,000 people reside in the community.  All of whom

          3  are frail elders.  What I basically do, and what the

          4  team I work with does, is really the one- to- one

          5  stuff. Our Community Services Division's clinical

          6  staff, consisting of nurses and social workers,

          7  speak to every one of the clients we serve about

          8  their rights about health care decision making,

          9  specifically, their right to name a health care

         10  agent, and their right to refuse any kind of

         11  treatment, including life- sustaining treatments.

         12                 The people who live within the

         13  nursing home are served in this context, by our

         14  Social Works Department, which again, meets with

         15  every patient, every nursing home resident, on

         16  admission, to discuss these issues.  And as you

         17  know, this is mandated by the Federal Patient Self

         18  Determination Act, so it's something that we have to

         19  do.

         20                 But the home has had a long- standing

         21  interest in ethics since the mid 1980s, and created,

         22  in 1991, a Center on Ethics.  So we are specifically

         23  focused on patient autonomy, and people's rights

         24  around these kinds of issue.

         25                 We regularly speak to community
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          2  groups.  Our Community Services Division gives

          3  periodic presentations on advanced directives in our

          4  NORCS, and outside community people are invited to

          5  these as well.

          6                 We also have a Palliative Care

          7  Program.  And what this does, is it helps people

          8  beyond the point of making out the advanced

          9  directives, at the point when decisions need to be

         10  made. So what the Palliative Care team does is

         11  actually help our residents and patients and clients

         12  and their families, or whoever is appointed to make

         13  decisions for them, actually make decisions at the

         14  time the decision needs to be made.  This is a

         15  service that I think is desperately needed, because

         16  once the paperwork is done, that's great, but then

         17  what happens.  And we hear all kinds of anecdotal,

         18  as well as research information, suggesting that

         19  physicians in health care facilities don't always

         20  follow what's written in advance directives.  So

         21  that's where the Palliative Care team helps.

         22                 We have a website that has

         23  information about palliative care and advance care

         24  planning on it, and it's

         25  www.jewishhomeandhospital.org.  And there's also
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          2  phone numbers on there to contact either myself or

          3  our Community Services person to help with more

          4  specific issues.

          5                 As far as what the City can do to

          6  help us a little bit more, we see a real need, more

          7  in the community.  A lot of these programs that the

          8  City runs, could possibly give information to people

          9  who are not otherwise seen.  And specifically the

         10  Meals on Wheels staff, the Home Attendant program

         11  workers.

         12                 We were also going to suggest and

         13  easy- read booklet on these issues, which it sounds

         14  like DFTA already has.  So that's been done, but I'm

         15  not sure the extent to which it's disseminated. And

         16  possibly we could think about when we teach home

         17  attendants or anybody about encouraging their

         18  clients to do advance directives, do the advance

         19  directives yourself.  Remind the workers that the

         20  biggest right to die cases in this country were

         21  young people.  So advance directives are not just a

         22  senior issue, they're a family issue.  And if we're

         23  going into the churches to talk about these issues,

         24  remind them that it's a family issue.  It's much

         25  easier to sit down with your mother and your
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          2  grandmother and say, let's all do advance directive

          3  than it is to say, you know Granny, you're older,

          4  and maybe you should think about telling us who you

          5  want to make decisions.  It's much easier, it's much

          6  less threatening if everybody in the family does it

          7  together.

          8                 I know that's not the focus today,

          9  but it gets more seniors to do it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: No, that's a good

         11  idea.  That's how we got my mother to do it.  Thank

         12  you very much.

         13                 MS. GREENBAUM: I'm Beatrice

         14  Greenbaum.  I come from the New York Citizens

         15  Committee on Health Care Decisions.  I must say,

         16  that in three minutes, it is almost impossible to

         17  tell you what we've been doing for more than 25

         18  years.  I'll read and try to interrupt myself as I

         19  go along.

         20                 The New York Citizens Committee is

         21  grassroots, nonprofit, nonpartisan, community

         22  resource, and we provided power through knowledge to

         23  senior citizens, who, through a misconception and

         24  lack of knowledge, or hesitancy to deal with the

         25  issue, are forfeiting their right to ensure their
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          2  roles in advanced care planning for health care

          3  decisions.  This is a real challenge to creative

          4  solutions and we feel that we've come up with some

          5  creative solutions.

          6                 I must point out that we get

          7  absolutely no reimbursement from any City, State,

          8  Federal source.  We're, as I said, strictly

          9  grassroots.  We rely on fund raising, on

         10  foundations, principally who will give us money for

         11  specific, very innovative programs that we do.  And

         12  that's who we are.  And we go, our mantra is to go

         13  eyeball to eyeball with John and Jane Q. Public,

         14  those people that whom other people write papers and

         15  do that kind of policy making.  We're out there for

         16  the community, for the people.

         17                 Experience for a multiple ongoing

         18  programs.  We have developed a very well- trained

         19  program for training people going out into the

         20  community.  And with that -- and this came as a

         21  result of a funded project -- with that, we did a

         22  very good documentary video tape, and it's not done

         23  going, it's not scripted, it's really real people

         24  expressing their own desires and their own

         25  experiences.
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          2                 This has given us the opportunity to

          3  reach many, many, many people.  And also to provide

          4  the access of our video and our training programs to

          5  any organizations who would want to use it for their

          6  own purposes to further what we are doing.

          7                 In addition to that, we've instituted

          8  a new project called Project Underserved, which

          9  addresses access to end- of- life care information

         10  programs to three very needy populations: The

         11  mentally ill, the frail elderly, and the culturally

         12  and linguistically deprived deaf community.  This is

         13  a new project which we have started, and it's

         14  fascinating, and exciting, and I think opens up the

         15  doors to getting into the community of other very

         16  needy underserved people.

         17                 And in response to the print and

         18  broadcast media's headlines and sound bites, there

         19  are all these catastrophic things we've been reading

         20  about, we have stepped up to the plate with a new

         21  program called, Operation Blitz.  And these are

         22  workshops to get out to the community, once again,

         23  for interactive communication with senior citizens.

         24  This comes under the aegis of what we have on Let's

         25  Talk series, that's an ongoing series in the Spring

                                                            76

          1  COMMITTEES ON AGING AND HEALTH

          2  and Fall into all communities.

          3                 In numbers, to give you an idea of

          4  our impact, the projected numbers of people reached

          5  by our Speaker's Bureau, in 2005, was approximately

          6  875 people.  We represented 42 presentations and as

          7  I say, this is a composite of all we do.

          8                 And in broader terms, since our

          9  inception of the Speaker's Bureau in 2001, we

         10  visited 80 facilities, for a total of 130

         11  presentations, reaching 3,000 individuals with

         12  programs on advance directives, doctor/patient

         13  relationships, and hospice care.             Now

         14  some of the lessons we learned through the years

         15  was:

         16                 The barriers to involvement.  Seniors

         17  are reluctant to discuss, or even listen to the

         18  words, "advance care planning". Because this

         19  provokes an image of death and dying, and seniors

         20  among whom I am a representative, I'm not afraid of

         21  death, and I'm not afraid of death and dying, but

         22  I've been working in this, and my background is very

         23  heavily loaded with all kinds of preparation and

         24  accreditation.  But the fact really is, this is

         25  tough going when you go out to a senior citizen
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          2  situation.

          3                 They are saying, "We don't need to go

          4  this.  We rely on our family.  They know what we

          5  want."  And that is 100 percent wrong, because the

          6  law does not recognize that.  The legal people have

          7  told you all about the law.  I don't want to go into

          8  that. You've gotten all you need to know, I think.

          9                 So that it's important that we really

         10  talk to people one on one.  Also, there's a big lack

         11  of doctor/patient relationships that look to these

         12  issues.  It's I guess a function of medical school

         13  training.  Doctors are out there to cure, not care,

         14  and so they're aspect on this is completely

         15  different.  And that needs a lot of work.

         16                 As far as barriers to community

         17  development in New York City.  It's very difficult

         18  to define a geography for a community in New York

         19  City.  There's no way to put your hands around

         20  anything like this.  And so we have, you have heard

         21  mentioned a naturally occurring communities, and

         22  they come through development dealing with ethnic

         23  and religious, and all different social groups who

         24  get together and form their own community.  And we

         25  work with those people.  We go out to every senior
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          2  citizen around New York City and its environment.

          3  Again, and again, and again.  They call us, we call

          4  them.  And we have this ongoing program.

          5                 One of the things that I feel is very

          6  important --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: You need to try to

          8  sum up, because you're going off --

          9                 MS. GREENBAUM: Okay.  I just want to

         10  make this point.  There has to be respect for what

         11  we call, "peer- to- peer communication".  Don't send

         12  out a youngster to talk to a senior center about

         13  what to do.  Send somebody with whom they can

         14  identify.

         15                 For New York City, I think one of the

         16  things we suggest is to attach a State Health Proxy

         17  to every driver's license.  To go into the high

         18  school and college communities.  To go to the

         19  medical school curriculum, so that doctors get

         20  training and understanding of what their role could

         21  be.

         22                 And also, it's been mentioned to

         23  distribution of these wallet- sized health care

         24  proxies.

         25                 One of the things I want to tell you
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          2  is that there is in New York City, and I'm a

          3  founding member of something called the "Caring

          4  Coalition of Metro New York and New Jersey".

          5  November 10- 11 has been designated as a health care

          6  agencies weekend to really drive community wide, to

          7  get people involved.

          8                 I can answer any question at length,

          9  obviously, but I tried to give you -- you know, it

         10  comes out of my pores.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you both.

         12  You both made some very good suggestions which we're

         13  going to follow up on. Certainly your idea of having

         14  the whole family do it was a great one.  And also

         15  the medical school curriculum is something we can

         16  have impact on at the City Council, because HHC runs

         17  a number of medical schools.  So we will speak to

         18  HHC about that as well as to the five individuals

         19  who are the appointees of the City Council to the

         20  HHC Board.  And although we don't have direct

         21  jurisdiction over DMV, we'll certainly reach out to

         22  our State counterparts about that idea.

         23                 MS. GREENBAUM: If I may add, just one

         24  more thing?

         25                 I don't believe in Tupperware parties
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          2  for distribution of advance care directives.  What

          3  we need more of, is for the person and the family to

          4  sit down and communicate, so there is agreement as

          5  to what the patient wants, or the person wants, and

          6  that the family is in position to agree with that

          7  person, and also among themselves.

          8                 So whatever the advance care planning

          9  document will say, will be valid, and no questions

         10  about its being accepted.  And that is a very

         11  important thing.  Never mind just the document, it's

         12  the communication that verifies that it will work.

         13  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON QUINN: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 I want to thank Chairperson Baez for

         17  requesting we do this joint hearing which, I thought

         18  would be educational and informative.  I didn't

         19  realize it would create such a long list of work she

         20  and I are going to have to follow up on, but that is

         21  a good thing, so I thank her for that as well.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you all for

         23  the individuals who were here to testify today; for

         24  my colleagues for being here; for both Counsels on

         25  both Committees; for my Co-Chair, Council Member
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          2  Quinn; and for the staff for putting this hearing

          3  together. Thank you very much.

          4                 Meeting is adjourned.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 11:55 a.m.)
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